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ST. GEORGE HISTORIC DISTRICT, STATEN ISLAND 

The St. George Historic District consists of the property bounded by a line beginning at the intersection 
of the southern curbline of Richmond Terrace and the eastern curbline of Westervelt Avenue, extending 
southerly along the eastern curbline of Westervelt Avenue to the intersection with the northern curbline 
of Carroll Place, westerly across Westervelt Avenue to the western curbline of Westervelt Avenue, 
southerly along the western curbline of Westervelt Avenue, westerly along the northern property line of 
30 Westervelt Avenue, southerly along the western property lines of 30 through 56 Westervelt Avenue, 
easterly along part of the southern property line of 56 Westervelt Avenue, southerly along the western 
property lines of 60 and 62 Westervelt Avenue, westerly along part of the northern property line of 70 
Westervelt Avenue, southerly along the western property lines of 70 through 106 Westervelt Avenue, 
easterly along the southern property line of 106 Westervelt Avenue, easterly across Westervelt Avenue 
to the eastern curbline of Westervelt Avenue, northerly along the eastern curbline of Westervelt Avenue 
to the intersection with Hamilton Avenue, southeasterly along the southern curbline of Hamilton Avenue, 
southerly along the western property line of 230 Hamilton Avenue, southeasterly along the southern 
property lines of 230 through 222 Hamilton Avenue, northerly along the eastern property line of 222 
Hamilton Avenue, northwesterly along the soumern curbline of Hamilton Avenue to a point which is the 
intersection with a line extending soudierly from die eastern curbline of Phelps Place, northerly across 
Hamilton Avenue, northerly along the eastern curbline of Phelps Place and the eastern property line of 
11 Phelps Place, easterly along part of the southern property line of Tax Map Lot 149 of Block 22, 
northerly along the eastern property line of Tax Map Lot 149 of Block 22, easterly along the southern 
curbline of St. Mark's Place to a point which is the intersection with a line extending southerly from the 
eastern property line of 135 St. Mark's Place, northerly across St. Mark's Place, northerly along the 
eastern property line of 135 St. Mark's Place, northerly across Carroll Place, westerly along the northern 
curbline of Carroll Place, northerly along the eastern property lines of 135 Carroll Place and 270 
Richmond Terrace, westerly along the southern curbline of Richmond Terrace, southerly along me 
western property line of 272 Richmond Terrace (aka 131 Carroll Place), easterly along the northern 
curbline of Carroll Place, northerly along the eastern property lines of 17 Carroll Place and 404 
Richmond Terrace, westerly along the southern curbline of Richmond Terrace, to the point of beginning. 

TESTIMONY AT THE PUBLIC HEARING 

On October 1, 1994, the Landmarks Preservation Commission held a public hearing on the 
proposed designation of the St. George Historic District (Item No. 20). The hearing was duly advertised 
in accordance with the provisions of law. There were eighteen speakers in support of designation, 
including representatives of the St. George Civic Association, the Preservation League of Staten Island, 
the Historic Districts Council, the Municipal Art Society, the New York Landmarks Conservancy, and 
property owners and residents within the proposed district. A representative of Borough President Guy 
Molinari expressed the Borough President's support for the district in concept. One speaker opposed 
designation. The Commission has received many letters and statements supporting this designation, and 
statements from one property owner and Community Board 1 opposing designation. 
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ST. GEORGE HISTORIC DISTRICT 
Introduction 

The St. George Historic District, which includes portions of St. Marks Place, Carroll Place, Westervelt 
Avenue, and Hamilton Avenue, the Phelps Place cul-de-sac, and short stretches of Richmond Terrace, 
is a small enclave containing some 78 buildings, part of a larger suburban development, located along 
Staten Island's North Shore. Predominantly late nineteenth century in character, the area of the district 
had its roots in one of the earliest planned suburban communities in New York City. Initiated by Thomas 
E. Davis, a wealthy Manhattan real estate developer, in 1834-35, the project was taken over in 1836 by 
the New Brighton Association, a consortium of wealthy New York City entrepreneurs who promoted this 
location as a commuter suburb called New Brighton which was readily accessible to New York City by 
steamboat ferry service. The proposed development slowed, almost immediately affected by the economic 
collapse of 1837; within the historic district, however, part of the existing street pattern reflects that 
shown on the plan of New Brighton of 1835 - three crescent-shaped streets ascending a steep hillside and 
another that surrounded them. The present street names are those shown on that original plan: Richmond 
Terrace, Carroll Place, St. Marks Place, and Hamilton Avenue (its original westernmost end is today part 
of Westervelt Avenue). In addition, there are four structures from this earliest phase of development. 
The oldest structure in the district is the house at 404 Richmond Terrace (now "Pavilion on the Terrace"), 
a temple-fronted Greek Revival residence built c. 1835 by Thomas Davis and acquired shortly thereafter 
by Henry P. Robertson, a Manhattan merchant. Another early house remains at 272 Richmond Terrace, 
originally part of a grouping of three similar houses constructed c. 1839-45 by Henry McFarlane. Also 
surviving are two early carriage houses that were built to serve houses on Richmond Terrace. 

In the 1840s and 1850s New Brighton developed into a fashionable summer resort. One Italianate villa, 
now modified, at 97 St. Marks Place and two large brick Italianate outbuildings on the north side of 
Carroll Place survive from this period. 

A Civil War business boom brought new development and a population increase to Staten Island as New 
York's populace sought affordable housing. Among the most notable houses built in the area of the 
historic district was the Anson Phelps Stokes residence (1862), one of three large estate houses 
constructed at the top of the hill on land between St. Mark's Place and Hamilton Avenue. This period 
was marked by the introduction of a new building type to the district, the double house, and a new style, 
the Second Empire. Several houses dating from the 1860s and early 1870s, designed in this style and 
distinguished by their mansard roofs, are located on Westervelt Avenue and the north side of St. Mark's 
Place. This period of development was halted by the Depression of 1873. 

Sometime between 1878 and 1882, the saloon and hotel keeper Joseph Wilks built the brick double house 
at 30-32 Westervelt Avenue which shows the influence of the Romanesque Revival style. The increase 
in building activity within the proposed district starting in the 1880s coincided with the consolidation of 
competing Staten Island ferry lines at one location, the site of the present St. George ferry terminal. 
Improved transportation, making the area more convenient to lower Manhattan, was the primary impetus 
for the suburb's development boom. The story has been told that the appellation, St. George, which first 
appears on an 1885 map, was the name that ferry promoter Erastus Wiman gave to the terminal, after 
George Law, a railroad engineer and financier, made land available for the new railroad and new 
terminal. 

The majority of houses in the proposed district were constructed in the 1880s and 1890s and reflect a 
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Fig. I I 1 — 5 St. Marks Place, c. 1890. Photo: Sargent Collection. Staten Island Historical Society. 

$1 



'• ' X :VJ 

> 

Fig, 12 St. Marks Place, c, 1894, showing No. 131 St. Marks Place at (he far right. Photo: Art Work of Stolen island, 
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